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MELVIW SHAFRON, M.D,.

called by Lthe Defendants for examination under the Ohio

Rules
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of Civil Procedure, after having been faiwst duly
a5 hereinafter certified, was eXanmined and
ited as fLollows:

MR, CABRAL: Tete 5:08 p.m. on

i

chruary 5th, 1992, and we're heére to take the
deposltion of Dr. Melvin Shafron.
DIRECT BEXAMINATION
CABRAL:
Good evening, Dogtor.
Good evening, sSit.
Doctoy, could you state your full name for the

AB Q.

&

record, pi
Melvin Shalron.
Doctor, are you a medicai doctor?

»

Yes.

o
e

for

ike to begin by going a littie bit into your

medical background and education. Can you tell us,

©

please, where you obtained your undergraduatbe
degree?

What was then called Western Reserve Univeisity.
what year was tnabt, s8ir?

1252, long time ago.

Thereupon did you ¢go on to attend medical sChooi?
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Yes, ir, I did.
And where was?
That was at Harvard Medical fAchool.

And when did you gradiuate from Haivard?

Did you undergo any specialized teaining or general
training upon graduaticn L{rom Hagvard?

I had a year ~-~ 1 pad general training first, like
most everyene who did neurosuigery., I had a year
of what was called an internship at University of

Michigan Hospitals &t aAnn Arbor, went to service

for two years, and I returned from the Navy in

I had a year of training in generai
surgery, which was a reguirement to be fuifilled
before beginning neugosurgery tralining in 19643.
And I trained in neucosurgery from 1960 to 1264 at
the University Hospitals of Cleveland, And I've
been in pracitice sinee thatbt time.

Dogtor, do you have a speclaliy?
Heurosugrgery on neuroclogical sucgary.
And can you explain for tne juiy, please, exactly

-
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Jhat
Heurosurgery is that specialty of medicine that

deais witn the diagnosis and @ither the szuirgical ox
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nonsurgical treatment of a variety of conditions
which can affect the brain, the gkull, the bony
spine, the disks of the spine and the various
nerves of the body.

Doctor, acve you board certvified?

Yes,.

In what £ield?

NeurosuLge(y.

And when did you become bLoard cervified?

Doctor, are you licensad to practice in the state
of Dhio?
Yew, 5iL.

Do you hold privilegyes at any local hospltals?

Can you desacribe tnose £or us, please,

g

I'mon the staff of University Hospitals, HMt. Sinail

Hedical Centev, St. Lukefs, Hillecrest and Suburban

Yeah. I'm director of neurosurgery at Mt., Sinadl.
Doctor, have you authored any publicationsg?
Yed.

Can you describe some 0f these for us?




1 A I've authored ~- authoired publications on various

3 diagnostic technigues used to study brain tumors,

3 treatment of certain disozders of chiidhood, usge of
4 certain types of skulli =-- use of portions of tae

3 skull to repress certain defenses of the body.

) What eise? Toece have been so many, I

7 can't recall them all specifically.

@ 8] Thank you. Boctor, do you belony to any

2 rrofessional oryanizations?
16 A Yeo.

11 G And can you desgceribe some of cthese for us, please.
132 A I'm a3 member of the Ohio State Heurcsurgical
13 Association, the American Assocliation of
14 Heurological Surgeons, bthe Heurosurgical Society of
35 America, which I've been president of, the Ohio
16 State Medical Association, the American Medical

17 Assoclation and the Cuyahoga County Medical Soclety
14 or tine Academy of Hedicine of Cleveland,
19 Q Thank you very much, Doctoer. Doctor, have you had
20 an opportunity to =2xamine ¥Mr. Jack Albano?

21 A Yes, siv, I did,

22 Q Did you take a history atbt thav tiwme, Doctor?
23 A Yes,

24 G Can you give us a brief rundown of what the history

25 wag at that time?




1 A May T just read from my notes?
2 0 Certainly,
3 A Okay. He related to me that he was involved in an
4 acclident on October of 1984, He said that he was
5 carrying some duct wogk into a building, and he
& slipped on some cardboard and that his foor caught
7 on something, and he traipped and fell on the leit
§ side of nig body. He salid he was covered with mud.
9 Apparently he fe2ll ip a constiuction site.
19 He got up immediately, told his foreman -~
11 tuirned oubt it was his father, those were his
12 words -~ Chat he had g@ttaé hurt and that his
13 compiaints of pa.n got progressively worse. And he
14 went to what I suspect is probably an urgent care
15 center on Rockside Road where he had YU-rays
16 performed, was examined and aliowed to go home.
17 He told me he was given medications, and
18 e sald cthat about a week later bis soreness felt &
19 bit better, and bhe tried 0 go back to work, but he
20 said that in MNovember his back pain worsened, toor
21 hinmsely off the job, and he said that shortly
22 afterwards he developed poin primacily on the right
z3 slide, which is over the right buttock and went down
24 the outside of the right thigh into the calf., He
25 adid tnat he had pain in the fooct as well. He was
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Loid that he had a siipped disk by a physician.

I asked him if he bad any pain in any
other part of hiz loweyr extremities, and he said
yeah, he had some pain on the left side, but it was
worse on the raght side. He desceribed tnat be had
a <oid feeling or a numb feeling in the same acea
of the toes and foot, that he had pain and nunbness
on tike outside of his foot, the sole of the footk
and on the insteyp of the foot.

He saw a physician at Brentwood Hospital
who treated him with exay¢cises, heat, cold,
traction for two years, and then he had a myelogran
and an operation in HMagch of ’'83, He szaid the
operation did not help him except that it took his
immobilizing back pain away, but i1i¢ didn't do
anytning for the leg pain. He said that bis leg
pain 18 still there.

He told me that he saw an orthopedic
surgeon, saw several physicians othey than Dr.
Krahe privr to his surgery, including a doctor in
Akron and an orthopedist in this community,
actually in this building. He told me that he had
s€en no other physicians #ince His surgery except
for the operating surgeons,

He denied other probiems with his back

S S U PO




i priocr to the accident in question. He said that he
2 may nave had a couple of back strains in the earliy
3 1980's but required no specific treatment. He toid
d @me that he had had an operation on his left Knee
3 about a week after a motorcycle accident in 1972 or
§ 1973 and appavently tore some ligaments or
7 cartilage in that knee. He denied oiher
3 operaticnsg, other accidents, told me that he took
8 ne medications except forv a presceription medication
i0 called Darvocet, which he used occasionally for his
1T pain.
12 When I asked him i€ he could eguare the
13 severasty of nis ley pain with his back pain, he
14 sald that certainly before the operation his back
1% pain was his primary compiaint. How, the operation
15 gseemed Lo help Lis backache and that his primary
17 complaint now is leg pain.
14 He also told me that prior to his surgexy
19 e nad several scans, inciuding an MRI scan and a
20 CT scan. He also told me tiaat he wore what may
21 have ween a foot drop appliance after the operation
22 for about three months.
23 And that was the sum and zubstance of the
24 nistory that I gobt from thé patient,
as G Doctoiy, with respect to the prior back injuries




that he suffered before 1986, did he describe these

2 ag having any significance?

3 A My own interpretation of what he toid me 1o that

4 they were not of any particular slgnificance.

5 G Have you since had an opportunity to review an

4 racords with r@ﬁp@qt Lo these injuries:

7 A Just today for the £igst vime. |
f Q Did any of tnese records indicate how ilong these

d injuries pdb bhim out of commission?

10 A I'm going Lo have to locok at them verxy careful i)

11 because I've not seen them. I yguess about -~ I'm
73 not sure whether these are estimated or true dates,
13 but thisz note that, for example, with respect to an;
14 incident which cccurrced in 1920, that he stopped
15 working on 11~23~-80 and returned to woik on

16 12-30~80, so about five weeks.
17 O Thanik you, Doctor. Doctor, did you conduct an

18 examinacion of HMr. Albano?
19 A Yes, siv, I did. )
20 Q Can you desceribe for us, please, your physical
21 findings,
22 A When I exanmined the gentleman, I noticed that he
23 nad a low gcar ~~ Llow midline scay on the back., I
24 tried to evaluate bhis strength. In other words,

25 there aye a number of ways you can evaluate the
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1 presence or absence of abnormalities in the muscles
d of the lower extremities that relate to a problem
3 of a herniated disk. One of these i1z by asking the
4 patient to stand on their heels andé toes. In other
5 words, you can get an evaiuvation, true Functional
) gvaluation of the strength of these muscle Jroups,
7 and it was very difficult because the patient couid
3 nardly stand on his feet or toes. In other words,
9 there was no way I could do that.
10 I did measure the calves of his lower
11 extremities, and I noticed that the right calf was
12 two centimelters, which i a little less than an
13 incn, less in circumference than the one on the
14 tight., I looked at his buttocks very carefully.
15 Somatlimes with a hesniated digk or a problem with
L6 the negve you <an see that one buttock may droop
17 compared Lo the ovcher buttock. The buttock may
18 actually be atrophic, or thin, and T didn't notice
19 any of this,
2s | I then Jooked st nis back. The
21 patient's -~ the site of the patient's scar was
22 very tender, and T didn't really go terribly Far in
23 testing bis movements becauwse he sald that every
24 movement of his low back caused him to have pain.
25 And the purpose of my examination is not, you know,
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not to make a patient feel uncomfortable, and I
wouldn't do that with any patient. But ne said
every wmovement of his back caused him to have pain.

I then tested his sensation in Ltaree

different ways, £irst by moving the patient's toes
up or down with his eyes clozed, wihich tescs a
certain meodality of sensation or a certaln type of
sensation, I then tested that same type of
sensation with the tuning fork, and I noticed that
this was normal. T then tested sensation with
using what we call a painful stimulus, it really
ientt painful but it's with a pin, or a device
cailed a pin wheel, and I noticed that when I did
that that he had decreased appreciation of pin
involving the entire right buttock and the entire
right lower extremity from the grein down.

And that was =-- in other words, you agsk
tne patient do you feel thisz and compare right to
left, and he said no, it's different for the entire

right lower extremity f£rom the groin down.

I then tested his straight leg raising to
59 degrees, and I noticed that this maneuver did
not produce leg pain; it produced back pain. I
then tested his reflexes, and I noticed that I was

able to test the reflexes with a rubber hamuwer at
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1 the Xnees, and the reflexes there were symmebrical,
2 and they were present. The reflexes in the ankles
3 were absent bilaterally. I'm not sure what the

4 gsignificance of thnat was. And that there were no

5 abnormal or pathoiogical reilexes.

5 And that wag the pum and substance of my

7 examination.

3 2 Doctor, you indicated that the straight leg raising
D Ltest caused pain in the back,.

10 A Yeah,

1l Q But not pain in the legs.
12 I That ig ¢orrect.

13 Q Wnat significance iz that?
14 A Well, Lo me it means Luiat rche patient probably

15 doesn't have active compreszsion of the nerve. This
14 il wihat L1t means to me.

17 Q Doctor, ovey the years, have you nad opportunity to
18 egxamine patients complaining of back and leg pain?
15 A That's probabiy the mosi common thing I see
20 patients for in the off ice.

21 4 Over the years, give me have a rough estinmace of

22 how many of these peopie you've had come through

23 your office.

24 A I'11 glve you a conservative estimate and say about
25 two 0y three thousand,
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Having seen two or three thousand people with this
kind of problem, can you tell me whether there was
anything unusual about HMr. Albano?
I think thac when you examine or svaluate a
patient, you try to relate the things that a
patlent tells you with what you £ind on an
examination and wilh what you csee on any studies
nat you may bave witn reference to that patient at
the time you see the patienc.

The unuswval features about hig examination
were his either unwillingness, and I'm not going to
zay inability because I don't think ~- I think he
should have been able to stand on his feet or toes,
which to me 1s unusual in my experience.

The loss of sensation of pin from the
groin down 13 anothey unusual thing to see on an
examination in a patient with a herniated disk

L a
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wnether he's had sukgerxy or not. Ib's ju
physical f£inding that one can relate to an injured
nerve. Even i1f that nerve were -~ 1f I were to
have cut that nerve purposefully, it would not
produce a loss of sensation in the groln down, from
the groin down the entire leg.

50 that this ls his response to his

problem and ais response to my examination,




1 Q Doctor, have you had an opportunity to review CT
2 scans which were taken in November of 19867
3 A Yes, I did so, and I noted this in wmy note to you,
4 which I wrote on the %th of May of 19921, taat
5 there's some bulging oif the dick at L4~5, but I
6 said I basically agreed with the report of the
7 radiologist. There's nothing that suggests a
£ hernliated disk at all.
D Q Coctoy, what i1s a herniated dJdisk?
10 a A disk -~ a herniatcted disk is a disk which escapes
11 the normal confines of the space in which it iz
12 located to the point where, as it escapes its
13 nogmal confineg, it very often will press upon a
14 negve to produce a very charcacteristic painful
15 Gigorder that we call sciatvica,.
1 0 And again, was there aaything on the CT scans to
17 indicate that there was a hecniated disk?
13 A Ho.
i Q2 Doctor, have you had an opporcunity to look at an
20 MRI test which was taken in 13377
21 A Yes, I did.
22 a Doctor, whalt 15 an MRI?
23 n An MRI is a special type of examination which is
24 presented to a doctor on an Z~ray £ilwm, but itf's
25 not really an X-ypay; it's an gxamnination perfornmed
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by tine use of -~ by placing a patient in a magnetic
field, very complicated, and I don't begin to -~ I
can't begin Lo explain it, because I really don‘t
understand it,

But a patient is placed in a magnetic
fieid, and this magnetic £ielid is altered Ly a
technician, and the alterations that produces, the
alterations oI the magnetic fielid produce changes
in the wvay certain atoms spin in our bodies. And
when the magnetic field is removed, the changes and
Lhe spinning characteriscie of these structures can
he recorded after they're enalyzed by a coaputer in
Some very mysterious way. They can be portrayed on
an H-ray £ilm, and one can get a picture of various

strugiures, many struetures, bones, nerves, disks.

¥

H

an be studied is

s

I mean, tae Lihings that
s3ort of almost infinite. 1 mean evegy day there's
nev technology whicih allows us to do more and more
with this device,

¥,

It sounds like this ilg light vears ahead of an
A-ray machine,

Oh, yeah. It's eons ahead, yes,.

Ts this Kind of test helpful in diagnosing a

potential hernlated disk?

Gh, sure, absolutely. Ii's probably the most
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commoniy used examination today.
o Doctor, when you reviewed the film from the MRY
taken in August of 1987, did you note any

indication 9f a herniated disk?

& Mo, I did not persoanally.
Q Have you reviewed the report of

interpreted it at the time?

A Yas,.
0 And did
A I dontt

report again.

which means that the disk was bulging, in the

o
G Is that the same as a hexniated disk?
B Mo, it is not.
0 What is a disk protrusion?
A Zractly what he says. Jee,

fudging a little bit., He

be,” and you would nave Lo

that. To me, 1t's gither

There appears Lo

bulyging

midline, in the middie.
) T there anything either in that

report Or your own obgervations in evaluating the

ke note a herniated digk?

think he did. 1 have to

robable assoclated central disk protrusion.

andlus, a small cencrai disk protrusion,

LOOK at that

The radiocloglist described with

it isn't there,

addition to the

radiologist’s

radicliogist who

2.
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4RI Lidm, anything which would explain Mrz. Albano's
ieg difficulties that he's claiming?

I think the spinal stenosis of in itseif can

produce leg pain, no guestion.

&

What 1s spinal stenosis, Doctor?

[ 5

Spinal stenosis for the most part is an acguired

g

disorder. Thers ate rare patients who are boon
with nariow spinal canals, But spinal stenosis is
& change which occurs in the low back, for reasons

whith are sort of wysterious, whicn can produce

anatomical abnormalities which, in tutn, will press

e

upon a nerve. This of in itself can produce pain
that's sclavic in nature, no guestion about it,
RBoctor, stenosis, can thet be a narzowing of the
Lony 3traet‘zg?

That's what it really is, yes. It’s a narrowing of

@ither the cpinal canal ibtself, or it's a narcowing

!,...

0L the bole or the space, that's called a foramen,

Gpine Lo enter a

Y

through which the negve leaves th
certain complex structure to make up the sciatic
nerve, Lor sxample, tﬁ@ Erfth vertebra,.

Doctor, ig this ogdinarily, this sitenosis, is this
Ordinarily caused by trauma?

In my own mind, a single episode of trauma doesz not

cause Linis, nNo, no.




1 o Do you have an opinion as to a reasonable degree of

2 medical certainty as to whether the stenosis you

3 noted in Mr. Albano was caused by the accident of

4 Octouber -- or the ziip and fail ©f Ccrober 13thn,

5 138867

& a Ho. I jusbt think it happens $o0 people because

7 they're alive, I don't have a better answer for

& YOU.

3 2 In other words, as far as you Know, or a8 far as
19 you're concerned, it was not caused by the fall in
11 Cctober of *867
1z A I don’'t believe so.

13 Q Do you have an opinion as t¢ whethsr or not the

14 stenosis as you observed it would have pre-existed
s 15 October 12867

16 A I think ~~ well, it was there on the CT scan that

17 ne had in Novenber, I think, 0 one wouid presume

18 it exlisted beforenand, but I can’'t tell vyou when it

19 started. I bhave no idea.

20 Q Thank you, Doctor. Doctor, zome time ago you've

21 had an opportunity to review some myelogram £ilms

22 | which were taken of Mr. Albanc?

23 A Yes, I did.

24 8 And these were taken when, do you recall?

25 A I'd have to look. I thaink a myelogram was done on

s | ey | i ittt i i iy i o et e e e o it st ey e sttt s oo, st mcererscess e ot
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1 9-26-35, and I saw those £iime on or about

2 Hovember 13th, 13291. At least that's the time I

3 sent a repori to you,

4 0 Do these demonstrate an abnormality?

5 A ves.

6 Q Where lg the abnormality within the bony structure

7 of Mr, Aibano's splne?

8 A I believe the abnormality iz at L4-~5. That is the

9 disk area between the fourth and £ifth bones of the
10 low back,

11 Q Is 1t located eventrally or to the right or to the
12 iegw?

13 A The X~rvays I rveviewed, and I don't have them here
14 and If've nobt seen them s8ince that time, to me, the
15 X-rays were bagically not interpretable., T only
lé gaw one X~ray that had & right and a left iabel on
17 it that I could identify, and when I looked at thig
i8 ¥-ray, this was an A-vay tarken in the upright

19 position, the patient not moving, I couid see a
20 marker of left, right. And that £ilm showed an

21 abnormality on the leftc side at Li-5.
22 Thnere was one otheyr H-ray that was Laken
23 with a label on it which showed a lesion at L4-5.
24 And thig is ~= I think an X-~ray was taken -- it

25 looked to me that the table that the patient was
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1 lying on was being tilted at the time the X-ray was
2 being taken, and that aiso showed an abnormality at
3 L4-5. I haven't looked at thoze X-zays since that
4 time, and I really can't tell you.

5 o How, Doctor, when you say X-ray, you're geferring

5 to the film that was produced ag a result of the

7 myelogran?

3 A That is correct, sir.

2 Q Doctogr, briefly explain for the jury what a
10 myelogram is.
11 A A myelogram i35 a test that's done usually by
12 radiclogy specialists, although years ago

13 neurosurgeons did them and orthopedists did them.
14 Certainly today the person most cften doing cthis is
15 an X-gay specialist.
18 And what tbhey do is place a fine needle in
17 the pack and inject & special type of material
13 called a dye. The needle is removed and a seclies
19 0f X-rays are Laken with the dye being manipulated
20 around by the radiologist., and the dye is such now
21 that it deesn'it have to be removed; it sort of goes
22 away by itself.

23 Q DocLor, are you aware that plaintiff eventually
24 underwent an operation?
25 A Yew, s1r, I am,.
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Have you reviewed the report of Dr., Krahe, the
surgeon who performed the operation?

Yes, I did.

Have you had an opportunity to briefly review Dr.
Krahe's testimony witu respect Lo this operation?
In all candid honeszty, I looked at that today. I
received the deposition, I don’t know who delivered
it, teoday in my office, and I sort of glanced at it
between patients. I wmust have seen 20 or 25
patients today, and I sort of looked at it in
between patients to see what the substance of it
was, onhly because 1 had soma difficultey
interpreting the operative report that I read when
I £irst saw it.

And I think that the nature of his
operation was a littie nore cliarified to me after
locking througihh his deposition. There, you know,
chere's some inconsistencies in these that aren’'t
guite true about what ne said ~-- quite rignt, I
shouldn®tc say true. But his deposition I think
clarified a bit in ay own mind as to what he found
at the time of surgery.

Can you describe for the jury what the procedure
was that Mr. Albano underwent.

He -- Lhis gentleman underwent a very standard




1 operation called a lumbar laminectomy, which is

2 just & medical name given to the surgical procedure
3 that's utilized Lo expose the abnormal areas thatl

4 one sees on diagnostic tests to remove a herniated
5 disk or a ruptured disk or¢, in some cages, Lo do

”
F
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nothing more than Jjust do a decompression of the

7 spine. That 15, you don't take disks out, but you
3 repove the bone around the nerves that are being

B compressed. This is just a standard name given to
143 this type of procedure.
13 0 For the sake of the jury, could you briefly
12 describe the anatomy of the spine at L5-L4 level,
13 5 Well, it's pretty -~ 1 mean there are certain bony
14 structures which are presaent that have to be
i5 removed or enlacged in order to gyet exposure, there
14 are certain ligaments which have to be removed in
L7 order to direcltly visuvalize the nervesg themseives

18 and to vigualize the abnormalities of disk or bone

19 that you're trying to breatc. And these thingsg all

20 have to be removed., Aand thiz is done, you Know, by
21 an experienced surgeon with relative case,

22 depending on certain circumstances. And as far as

232 T can tell from looking at the records and reportis,
24 this is what the dogtor did at the time 0f his

25 BULGE LY.




1 But what I don'{ guite understand is thac

2 he described removing a ruptured disk on the left

3 gide and finding nothing basically on the r.ght

4 side, ag far as I can teil from looking at his

5 record.

6 Q What did Dr. Krahe {ind during the operation with

7 respect Lo the nersve roots?

3 A Welli, T'11 bave to look at his description again,

9 some ©f which I find g little bit difficult to

14 understand, at least on tie basis Of ny own
11 gRperience,

12 He found that the root was trapped in
13 adhesicns, which T find a lictle bit Gifficult to
14 understand in the absence pf a previous operation.
15 He found a freely herniated disk, which I woulid

16 take to be a ruptured disk, that's a disk whnich has
17 totally escaped the confines of the disk space, on
18 Lhe left slde, and he removed that. Then he looked
19 at the vight side and saw nothing, and then he

290 closed the incision,

21 8] What is the significance of his indication that
22 there was some impingement on the nerve on the left
23 5ide?
24 A Well -~ gsay that once more.

25 Q In your wmind, what is the sigynif icance oif the fact
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that he apparently found some impingement or
entrapment or however he describes on the left sgide
on the nerve root?

It's hard to say. The patient, according to his
pathology, this i3 & note that he says, although I
didn't see this looking through the records, in Lthe
past ne had predominantly left leg pain. AL the
Lime of surgery he was found to have a laige,
fregly herniated L4 disk on the left side. This
certainly could relate to his left leg pain, but
it's gomething that Wwent on in the past, but in no

way can Lhe finding on the left side explain his

right-sided pain. It just doesn’t work that way.
Was his right-sided paln a significant compiaini?
That was his only complaint at the time he had his
GULgery.

You indicated that there were no findings with
respect Lo the raight nerve.

That's what he szaid,

What significance is this?

That I would have great difficulty explaining his
right leg pain.

Doctor, I want you to assume for the moment that
Dy. Krabe tegtified that his explanation as ko the

cight leg pain had to do with scarring oz




impingement of the spinal cord that he noted during
this operation,

It's totally incorrect., It can't De.

Can you explain for che jury why?

There's no spinal cord in this gart of tine spine.
The spinal c¢ord, the structure that we call the
spinal cord, ends at a significant distance away
from L4~5. in other words, the spinal cord ends
wsually at the bottom ¢f the L1 boae in the spine,
between the Lirst and second bones in the spine, so
thaere's no apinal cord down hare,.

Is it Lrue, Doctor, that a centrally herniated disk
can ¢zuse pain on either the ¢ight or the left?

I suppose it could., I suppose it could, 1if it's
big enough, I mean, it's not common for tnings to
protrude exactly in the middie. It's dust nok.
They're almost always asymmetyaital, one side or the
SLher.

Bven with what we wall big midline
protrusions or big wmidline gfuptures or Lig midiine
hegniated disks, they're aluost never exactly in
the midline; theyire almost always off Lo ong side
or the other,

For a centrally herniated disk to cause

s
1]

radiculopatihy, or pain going down one side or i




1 other, wouid there have to be some kind of
2 impingement?
3 A Ob, sure, sure, sure.
4 0 Would a centrally herniated disk explain
5 cight-sided ley pain where there is no impingement
Y on the right nerve?
7 A Ho,
8 Doctor, have you done these surgeries yourself?
9 A Severali thousand I think.
140 Q Youtye gtill doing them?
11 A Yas,
12 P How many would you say you did in 1991,
13 approzimately?
14 A A hundred, 150.
15 4] Doctor, does Dr. Krahe's cperative note ref lect
16 spinal cord involvement at any level?
17 A Mo, cantt.
i3 Q Doctor, do yolu believe, Lo a reasonable degree of
13 medical probability, that the scarving of whe
20 spinal cord as described by Dr. Rrahe in his
21 depositbion testimony could account for Mr. Albano's
22 symptoms?
23 A Well, Lirsbt of all, you mean the scarring that
24 existed before the operation?
25 9] Any scarring of the spinal cord whatsoevel.
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Well, Lhere's no scarring of the spinal cord
invelved in this situation at all under any
circumgtance. There may De 5Carring now becausge
he's had surgery, That's a normal accompaniment of
surgery. There'd alvways s¢aryring.

Te be qguite candid with you, I just don't

think that one sees scarring in what we call a

7

virgin back, a virgin disk space, something that

U

basn't been violated by & surgeon before., I just
don’'t toink we see scarring. And I don't know
what —-- I can't Leld you what he interpreted to be
scarsing. It's just something that I don't think
I've ever seen.

In other words, assuming Hr. Albano had never
undzigone a back surgery in the past?

Yes.

DO you have an opinion as to whether scarcing could
be present?

T don't think so., I do have an opinion. The
answer iz no.

Thank you, Doctor. Doctor, what doves it mean to

ical?

[t

say that a patient's syuptoms are hyste
They're nysterical, functional, tnoge are symptoms

£ a

<

which cannot be explained on the basis

physical abnormality.
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Can you describe for the jury, please, Doctor, what
is meant by a conversion reaction?

Bame thing. That's I thipnk a -~ Cconversion
feaction is more of a psychlatric term. But, you
know, we use that bterm, the patient haes conversion
symptoms, which a physician woudd know that these,
you know, these are symptoms that can't be real.
Doctor, you described sensory changes in Mc,
Albano's right leg ==

Ye3,

- when you 2xamined him.

Tes,

Do you have an opinion to a reasonable degree ©f
medical certainty as to whethey Mr. Albano's yicght
leg sensory changes are hysterical?

I do have an opinion.

And what is that opinion?

Toat at the time 1 examined hime those findings
were hysterical, were not orzganie in nature,

Again briefly, can you go thiouylh why, Ior the
jury, this is?

I think I mentioned before that even I{f I were to
have cutb that nerve purposefully, oneg would produce
icss of sensation in a very specific or glven area

of cthe leg, That area would be probably on the
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1 outside of the cali across the top of the foot, tog
2 of the great toe. It would not produce what we
3 call a losz of sensation of buttock or ioss of
4 senzation of thigh, loss of sensation on tLhae inner
5 calf.
5] In other words, the areas of the body that
7 relate to specific nerveu, abnormalitlies of those
8 specific nerves, whether they be caused by a doctor
2 or they be caused by disease, those areas of
14d altered sensation would be very specific and fairly
11 regular given the differences among human beings.
12 We're all different creatures. But the changes
13 that one sees ave really fasicly vregular from
14 patient to patient te patient Lo patient to
15 patient,
16 0 Do you have an opinion to a reasonable degree of
17 medical certainty, Doctor, a8 Lo whether Mz. Albano
18 is sufferinyg from a conversion reaction?
13 A At the time I saw him, with respect to his
20 sensation, T veally thought he was.
21 4] And again, what does this mean in ipeal teims,
22 Doctor?
23 A It means Lhat -- I can't define tihis in psychiatric
24 terms because I don't know how, but it meang ~-
25 Q Ag 1t applies to HMr. Albano.




1 A It means thabt the claimed ioss of gensation that ne
2 hag, 0ty had when I examined him, isn't real, It's
3 as siumple as that. You know, I can't say it any
4 other way.
5 {3 Do you have an opinion, Doctor, as to how these
& hysterical sengory «hanges in tnls conversion
7 reaction may affect iHis prognosis or pocential for
8 recovesry to & reasonable degree ¢f medical
9 certainbty?
id A That's veyry hard for me to say on the basis of one
1l visit. It miyht give some insight into the
12 patient, it might give a physician some insight
13 Lnto, you Know, the makeup or the character of the
14 patient, but it's not the kind of thing that I
15 would be able to say, you know, how significant is
14 bnls in terms of his overall rehabilitative
17 motential. I Just can't anaswer that. I just
i8 naven't seen tils patient enough,
19 o Doctor, assume that Dr. Krabe has testified that ne
20 believes there is absolutely no potential that this
21 man wili get better. Would you agree or disagree
23 with that contention?
23 A I don't know whether anything has ever been tried.
24 I don't know whethey he's tried, whether he's put
%3 in any kind of rehabilitation program, This was an
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industrial injury., The state has an excellent
program and an excellent center down here in
Cleveland I send patignts Lo, the Wasker Center.
Hothing ventured, nothing gained,

Tt may be futile, I don't know. But, you
Know, he's a young man. You certainly have to tiy.
I mean I don't know whetheyr ne'll ever be able to
go back to doing construction work again. There's
no way I canh say that. T would doubt it perzonally
just because of, you know, experience with patients
who have had problems 1ike this.

Bubt to totally write off a young man who
is probably no more than 40 years olid, to me that
would be a dreadful thing, at least, you know,
personailly T think it wouiu be a dreadful thing.
I'd make every attempt Lo try to rehabilitate this

3

man in some way that he could get along reasonably.
maybe not necessarily returning to the kind of work
he did before, but certainly Lo try to rehabilitace
him both in terms of his, you Know, his problems
and in terms of nis vocational abilities.

Doctor, in your experience wikth patients you've
seen over the years, have you had an opportunity to
observe a correlation between patients with

hysterical sympitoms and those who may be undergoing




1 litigation, prosecuting cases?

2 A I can't say that for certain, because I've seen

3 patients who were not inveolved in litigation with

4 hysterical symptoms. I wouldn't necessarily relate
5 one Lo the other.

5 0 Okay .

7 MR. CABRAL: That's all 1 have,

B Thank vou, Doctor,

g ME. REA: No guestions.,
10 CROSS-EZAMINATION

11 BY HR. RENNEDY:

12 Q Doctor, my name 13 EBric Kennedy, and I represent
13 Jack Albano. Let's start -~ 'm most interested to
14 discuss with you this thought that Jack Albano is
15 hysterical or his symptoms are psychological or he
16 suffered ==
17 A Ho, T ~=

14 0 ~=- from this conversion reaction.
19 A Okay.
20 Q I haven't asked a guestion.
21 A Okay, okay.
22 Q Doctor, £iist of all, with regard to this, the jury
23 should upderstand your cole here in tight of this
24 thougit that possibly this gentleman is hysterical.
25 You saw bim on one occasiony is that correct?
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hat is correcib, sir.

And that would have been about ten months ago?
Sure. Ho, just about a year ago.

Okay. Have you seen him 3ince?

Ho.
Would I be correct; in saying that the first time
you sav Jack Albano was May 9, 180172

According £to my note, 2-15%-91.

Okay, 2~15-91.
Yeah.
Almost f£ive and a half years after this fali?
Correct.

And injury?

Correct.

Based upon this one meeting with Jack Albanoe, you
are concluding here that this is a hysterical
conversion reaccion; is thalt what you'rfe saying?
Mo, I didn't say that. Ho, I didn't say that.
All right.

T said that at the time I exanined him, the tlame I
savw him in the office, that the sensory 2xamination
was not organic or hystegical -~ it wag hysterical
in nature. I didn't say =--

It was hysterical.

At the time I saw hinm. I don't Rnow what he was
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1 like the day betfore, I don’'t knov what he would
2 have been like the day h@ﬁOKé\ha& I examined him,
3 anor do I kanow wiat he would have been like --
4 Q You thought it was psychological in nature?
5 A I ¢can't -~ I don't know the machanlsms by which -~
6 when we describe this as happening. This is the
7 way he responded to the way I examined him.
3 ) Doctor, would I be correct in saying that you were
3 not brought into thiz case for the care and
10 treatment of Jack Albano?
11 A That il correct, slr.
2.2 £ Your oole purpose in examining him and seeing him
17 wad because that was reguested by the defense?
14 A Yeah, sure, sure.
15 Q They called you up; is that true?
i3 A T don't know who caliled whom, but an appointment
17 was arrzanged for me Lo seg hlm.
1A a They communicated with you and asked you to see
15 Jack Albano?
20 A They probably communicated with my secretary.
211 o The purpose of that was to have you evaluate him 50
22 you could testiiy?
23 A T suppose the end result would ve testifying, right
24 suUre, sure.,
25 O And you did evaluate him, then, at the request of
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the defense?

Yes, sir.

And then you wrote a report?

Yesn,

And now you're here today at thelir reguesl because
they hived you to do so bo testify?

Sure, BUreYe, HULL.

You never tireated Jack Albano in any raegacd?

o, BLli.

and would I be correct in saying from past
testimony that I‘ve seen that you're being
coumpencated at ab leagt $200 an hour for your time?
Apsoiutely. I‘m golng to certainly submit a bill
for itv, absolutely.

would I be correct in saying, Doctor. that

some sort of legal sense?

I think that's -~ thata probably an average,

o
£

<
€
@

probably a little less than that, but Ior whe ¢
of this, once a week is fine.

vou glve testimony about 10 to 15 tipes a year?
Haybe.

In similar gsettings?

Haybe, sure.

w £irm in the

o
£

You've testified for Mr. Cabral's




1 past?
2 A I'm suce ¥ have.
3 g That would be the Gallagher Sharp law firm?
4 A Yea, yes,
5 Q Weston Hurd law f£irw?
& A Yeah, I'm sure §'ve done that in the past.
7 8] Jacobson, Maynard, Tuschwman & Xalur law firm?
3 & I have in the past, sure.
9 G Sgquire, Sanders & Dempsey iaw firn?
10 A ot recently, nobt for a long, long time, but I
11 have,
12 O All right. Arter & Hadden law £irnm?
13 A Once maybe, twice maybe, I don't know.
14 Q The Reminger & Rewminger law £irm?
15 A I have, yes.
16 G Would I be correct in saying, Doctor, that your
17 testimony with regard to injured persons has been
15 utilized in state court in Cuyahoga County?
15 A I£ you mean the Court of Common Pleas, yes, yes.
20 Q Lake County?
21 A fes.
22 o Lorain County?
23 A gnge, yes,
24 Q Geauga County?

ad
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25 A Once that I can
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Aud your testimony has even appeared in cthe Fedecal
Court system?

Yeg, It was a maritime case, 0 it had to be in
Federal Court. 1'd never forget that.

Doctor, without a guestion this man had a herniated
disk; would that be true?

Well, I have to assume that from the note of the

Welil, you looked at the myelogram, 4id you not?
Wwell, T can't ~- you Ccan’t tell that for sure. You
can't tell, in all honesty. As I recall the
myelogram, and I haven’t seen it since the time I
wrote my notg -

80 you're saying you can't even telli from the
myeilogram?

Ho, you can't really tell., At least I couid not
celli. There's no guestion that he had an
abnormality at L4-5, To wme there was no guestion
of that. It is difficult somecimes in a myelogran
to tell whether or not there is a herniated disk
involved, and that's why oftentimes, wost often, at
least always when I have a myelogram performed on a
patieni ==

Doctor, let me —-

May I Linish?
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Let me ~- T think that you answered ==
I have not. I haven't.
-~ My Qguestion,

MR, CABRAL: Objection.
I haven't answered the qguescion.
Go ahead.,
That we do & myelogyram -- do a CAT scan after the
myalogram because the conmbination of the two
studies enables us Lo much easier tell precisely
what we're dealing with, that is whether we're
dealing with a herniated disk or whether or not
we're dealing with bDony disease.

And s0 there's no guestion that the
myelogram was absosutely abnormal. There's no
guestion of that in wmy mind.

Adnd there's absclutely no guesztion it showed a
lesion to the left av LA-LST?

Absolutely.

How, let's talk about what caused this hecrniated
digk. You have told us thabk you do not believe of
you can't say thnat the Qctober 13, 1288 £fall caused
the herniated disk; is that your testimony?

I don't think so. I think -~ because of the ~-

One gecond. Is that --

That's what I sald, yes,.
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1 Q
2
3
4 A
5 Q2
5
7 A
B Q
3
13 A
11 Q
132
13 A
14 0
i5 A
16
17
18 0
13
20
21 A
22 Q
23
24 A
25 @

A1 vight., You are aware, I think you said today,
that Mr. Albano had a prior muscular back injury in
the past prior to the fall in Octobex?

Sure, sure.

You said today that voday was the £irst opportunity
you bad to review those regords.

Sure,

You had those records before today, though, did you
noc?

Ho, no, no,

Docktor, the vecords veviewed were those of Dr.
Yarnden. I believe he treated nim for this.
Hecrnden?

Harnden, H-a~r~d=-e-n,

I never saw those. I never anything with reference
te anytning that I recall noting in Ry own notes oy
in my repozt with respect to the document.

Okay. Doctor, if you look at pavagraph 1 of your
report, it says I reviewed coplies of records from
Brentwoed, Drx. Stewart and Dr. Haradon.

Gkay.

How, would I be correct in saying that with regard
to this pmi@r back injury, it resoived, did it not?
As far as I know it did, veas.

In fact,; he had basically no problenms for a peciod
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1 of five and a half years prioe¢ to his f£all in

2 Qctober of '86, corcect?

3 A To the best of my knowledge, that i Correct.

4 0 Would I he corcect in saying from listening that

5 this prior fail -- this prior muscle back injury

5 probably plays no role in this case at ali?

7 a That ié correct.

3 0 Now, in determining whether or not a certain

3 incident, such as a fall, causes symploms Or causes
14 a hernlated digk, I think you explained Lo us it's
11 important te look at the temporal relationship. 1Is
12 that true? ’
13 4 Burag.
14 a What you mean by that is iv's ilmpportant to look at
i5 how guickly you have the Jdevelopment of a
146 symptomatology?
17 k3 Correct,
13 Q Tow, Mr. Albanc fell on Cctober 13, 19286; is that
19 trug?
20 A Yes.
21 Q And, Doctor, from your review of the records, ace
22 you aware that within one bour, less than one hour,
23 Mr. Albano was in an emerdgency room and had pain in
24 his back radiating into his caght leg? Are you
25 , aware of that?




1 A This may weli be 80, and I sonestly can’'t == don't
2 know, because I don't have the records of that
3 amergent care centey ~-~ Or urgent care canter
4 avaiiable, in alli honesty.
5 i S0 that wousd have been rcadiating paln witdin an
# hour, corregQt?
7 A Yes, sir, I£ that's what it says, absolutely.
5 ¢ And wouad I Dbe <Courrect in saying that atter that h
9 consistently continuously had low back pain
10 radiating into the vaght leg?
11 A That's what he says, out again, his doctor said
12 somneghing wifferently, 56, vou know, it's hard for
13 ma to understand. Because his doctor said in a
14 note dictated prior to the operation, prior to the
15 operative note, that when this first began he had
18 pain in the lait leg.
17 0Q Well, you reviewed the records in this case.
18 A Sure. I mean, you know, and there are different
19 things being sasd at different times.
20 Q Well, let's talk abaut'yaur review, Doctor?
21 A Sure.
22 Q If we ilook abt your report, the second paragraph =--
23 A Yes, sit.
24 0 ~= on the first page, you state, "It iz not clear
25 from the recoids when the right Leg pain began.”

@
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Correct,

"But his primary complainc during the course of his
entire recorded history seems Lo be pain in the
right lower exkt@mity.“

Oh-hpuh,

Tg that cvorract?

Absoluteliy.

o in your review of these records he consistently

nas pain in the vight lower extremity?

Absoclutely.
Okay. And that's f£com within an hour of his

]

injury?

=
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Up to today, five and a half veary later?

P

Riaht, riche.

Wow, this palin, Doctor, that he has described to

yeu and what you've seen in bhe recoids in bis
raght deg is typical seiatic pain?

To me Lt isg.

And sclatic pain is pain, Doctor, that can bhe

caused by a herniated disk?

Absolutely.

And the f£i:zst complaint that we have of sciatic
pain, which you told ug earlier ls commonly caused

by a herniated disk, the £irst instance of that is
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one hour after nig fall?

ot

Correct.

In fact, Doctor, leg pain radiating

into the leg is

4 the typical syuptom of a herniated disk?

5 A Abgsolutely.

6 0 And this wman had the typical symptom of a herniated
Vi Gisk within one hour of nis £a147?

8 A That's what he said,.

g " And complained of 1t constantly throughout?
10 A Yes.

1% 0 In fact, Doctor, a doctor really can’'t make the
1a diagnosis of a herniated disk unless there is leg
13 pain?
14 A Corract,

15 ' And again, this man had iv from witbhin an houwr?
16 A Absoluteiy.

17 0 Right on out to up to coday?

18 A Absolutely, yes.

39 i, And again you told us in relacing this herniated
29 iisk to the fall, how closely he developed oymptoms
21 is important?

22 A Yes.

23 Q That's the key determination?

24 A Absoiutely.

25 0 low, the Lasegue's sign, o0r the strailght leg
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1 raising test, is a test that is done by laviang the

2 patient on his back?

3 A I almost never —-- I usually a4ave the patlaent

4 gitting, but you can do it Lhat way, sure.

5 Q Okay. And you acsk the patient to raise thel: leg?

G Ho; no. You do it for the patient.

7 2 Keeping the leg straight?

3 a Yeah.,

2 0 Ali right. And this iz a tesc that's done to look
14 for a herniated disk or a possible herniated disk?
11 A Sure, sure,

12 0 Would I be correct, Doctor, f£rom your review of the
13 records that this gentleman, within three weeks of
14 nis injury, within three weeke of his fall, had a
15 positive straight leg raizing tesit?

16 i3 Again, I don't know what the doctor who recorded
17 that means by that. I know what I mean by it, If
18 thas patient had leyg pain produced by this tesc,
19 indeed I would agree with that. I he had bhackh

20 pain produced by this maneuver, I would not agree
21 with iz, I den't know,

22 O Can we assume tnat the doctord whou did this test
23 did it in an appropriate mannex?

24 A Oh, I'm sure they dld the test in an appropriate
25 manner,
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Okay. If Dr. Cordon found straight leg raising
tests to be pogsitive within three weeks of the

injury, can we assume that he did it appropriate?

i
rt

o

I'm sure he did the test appropriately, but

aoctors, differvent doctors interpret that test
Grfferently, as I said. 1I'm not fudging with you.
T'wm just telling vou what's btrue.

ALl gight.

If i¢ meant -=- 1f the deoctor -~ if the doctor meant
that this patient's leg pain was worsened by this
maneuver, then I totally agree that he had a
positive straight leg raising test. I he had a
vackache that was made worse, the answer to that
would be no.

Ok

JRay. Mow, Dr. Krahe, when he did the straight leg

¢ the £irst time three

5
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raising test
weeks atfter the fall, and it was positive wnen he
Gid it
Again, you'd have Lo ask him exactly what bhe neans.
I always write down when I do that maneuver what
the patient conplainsg of. T just don't say test
positive oy test nggative, T don't know wiat he
means Dy Lbat.

But 1f it did mean that this patient had

his leg pain worsened by the maneuver, tien I would




1 agree, of course, tnat the test wasg positive, but I
2 don't know that.

3 Q Okay. He found this test Lo be positive and

4 indicative of a herniated disk three weeks after

5 the fall.

& A Whyeh side was that? 1 don't have -~

7 0 The right and the left.

3 A Both sides?

3 O Both sides.

10 A T £ind that a 1ittle bitv unusual.
11 o Okay. and this continued, positive stralght leg
12 rarsing testc that Dr, Krahe did, svery time that he
12 did it tahrcugh the five-yeayr perliod it was

14 positive; i3 that correct?

15 A That'a what he said then.

16 o And when Dz, Gorxdon did it two weeks, two and a

17 nalf weeks afteyr, be found Lt pusicive also.

18 A I don't have those records in front of me, but 1£
13 you say thatbt, I certalnly wouid ascume that 1t's
20 tzue,

21 Q@ In fact, the physicians in this case, Dr. Gourdon,
22 three weeks after the fall, he alceady was talking
23 about the posasiblity of a herniatsd disk; is that
24 traue?

25 A Well, we Know that he didn't have one.
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Well,

that'e your statement here today.

Of course it's ny staktement.

All right,

The CT scan of the spine
one .,

Well, the CT scan of the
Of poor guality and very
inkerpret?

Ho, it's not a great gual

a usreat guality cxamination,

gvidence of a heiniated d

Doctor, agaian,
I sa1d tnat, yeal,
- provided to us?
Right.
Ckay., With regard to the
frhe C7 scan coples wihioh
good guality®™?

Correct.

And Z-ray gantry dJdoes not

the disk space 30 that accurate

not really possible?

It 15 true for =-

I's that your statement?

That's what I gaid.

showed that he didn't have

spine, Doctor, isn't that

diff icule for you to
ity examination, it's not
but there's no

on that examination.

LBk

Yyou wrote a report that yoy ==

CT sean, do you state,

5

reviagwed are noet of

make slices parallel to

incerpretation is




1 Q AlLL ridght.
2 A Hay I £inish, or may I not finish?
3 o] Ho, I just =-- is that your stalement in your
4 report?
5 A #ine, okay. I can't dispute the stabement in my
& report,
7 Q Okay. And in addition, did you telld us eacgiier
2 with respect to this gecond type CT scan, LL73 not
9 a CT scan that you normally do and utilize?
10 LY Ho, but I can see -~ well, there are some slices ot
11 views that I can see where there's no evidence of a
12 herniated disk, and I said that there's some bony
13 changes at Ld~5, but there's no evidence of a
14 hegpniaced disk.
15 Q ALl rvight. But what is found on those CT scans is
16 a puiging disk at L4-L3; is that tiue?
17 A I'd have to look at bthem again. Ave you talking
18 abour the sevond CT scant
1% 0 Well, T'm just =-- from youy report anyways. Did
20 you wiite in your report, Doctor, "There ceems LO
21 be some bulging of the disk atbt L4-L3"7
22 A Yean.
23 £ Is that what you wrote?
24 A Ttis very miid.
25 0 How, Doctor, there doesn’t seem to De much duestion
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here that you find it to be very important, that
being the time beltween the development of symptomns

3

of a herniated disk and the time of the

ia1)

ail, that
ls very diamportant in deternining whether the Fall
caused the berniaced digik?

Oh, I think 80, %ui

e
1

%

And, Doctor, from our review of these records, will

i

you agree with me there's not much guestion that
there way an immedlate development of
symptomatology in this case?

Correct, avsciutely, correct.

Doctor, you talked a little bit about your writings
with ¥y, Cabral, Wouid I be correct in saying that
youive only really written four published papers
since 19657

Oh, I think there are about eight or ten. I can't
recall the specific number, but there are mere than
Lunat,.

Is there a reason why tnose would not appear on
your bibliography?

They should id they've there, I tnink, I think
they'te there.

Would I be correct in saying, Doctor, that you have
never written anything abouf surgery on hegniated

disks?




1 A Ho, I've pnever written anything on surgery for
2 nerniated disks.
3 Q Would I be correct in saying that you've never
4 written anythiang about herniated disks in general?
5 A absolutely correct.
£ Q HWould I be correct in saying that you have never
7 written aaything about any type injury to the low
5 back?
2 A You would be absolutely correct in saying that,
10 absolutely correct.
11 0 Do you know Dr. Prank Boumphrey at the Cleveland
12 Ciinmie? )
13 A T don't Enow him at all.
14 9] Have you heard of him?
13 A Lo, I don't know him.
18 w With respect to the right-sided pain that Hr.
17 Aloano 18 experiencing, has experienced, centrally
18 nerniated disk can cause pain on cthe right side,
19 can it not?
20 A That's a very difficult guestion to answer, Lo De
21 Juite candid witin you. I suppose it could.
22 Q And the surgeon who did the operation, the man who
23 actualily removed the disk, said that U was a
24 centrally herxniated disk, did he not?
23 A Well, be really can't make any comment about that,




i in all honesty, because 1f one were to have a

2 centrally herniated disk produciag right leg pain,
3 you <o the operation frowm ctha right saide, not the

4 ieft side.

5 And 7 can’'t understand or explain anything
5 that wags done to Lhis gencleman, to be very candid
7 with you. I don't know., Very bhavd £for me to

8 figure bthis.

3 Q Doctor, ave you saying that Dr. Xrabe, who was

[
<

under oath and gave us nis deposi

=
L

12 herniated Jdisk?

13 A Well, I think it'sg very didficult
14 you've taken a disk out. I think
15 tell, personally, in my own expes
15 doubt bim one bit, but it's somet
17 difficuit to teall.

18 g Was an HRI study done? 1 think vy

19 A fure, sure,.

20 Q That wasg done before the surgesy,
21 A Yes. That was done a year and &

22 beforve the surgery.

23 0 And did that MRI, Doctor, show a

24 herniated disk?

25 a Well, no, it did noit show a centr

telling the truth when he says he

tion, is not

found a centrally

o tell when

it‘g very hard to

ignece. I wouldn't

hing that's very

ou mentioned it.

half or Lwo years

centrally

x

ally negniated
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disk. It showed smali central disk protrusion,
which is a totally different thing.

What's the difference between a protrusion and a
herniation?

A hegniation is a frank escape O0f the disk from the
confines of the disk space. A small central
protrusion is exactly what this says, a small
central protrusion. It's a little bulging of the
disk. Thac's not the major abnormality with this
patient. The major abnormality is the bony disease
that he has.

Doctor, this bony disease, you're talking about

a

STeNCSLs

£

that right?

9

-
[
jasd

That's right.

This stenosis was in existence prior to hiz fall on

Qetober 12th?

g

I assume it was. 1 think it probably was.

¥

And it wasn't causing him any probiems pricr Lo
that =--
May not have been, covvect, not as far as I Know.
MB, KONNEDY: I save nothing further
at this tiuwme.
REDIRECT EXAMIVATION
CABRAL

boctor, I've got a few more guestions for vou.




10
1l
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

29

20|

21
22
23
24
23

34

"pai&:far having seen Mr. Albano and for giving your

' testimony.

, waii?

Doctor, Mr. Kennedy has felt it necessary ot

f&ggartant to go into the fact that you're being

Any expert who testifies in a case like this is
being paid, whether his expert or your expert. I
mean he's being paid for his time, and I'm sure
that whoaver his expert is is going to also charge.
It's a standazd practice.

Do you have a stake, financially or otherwise, one
way ot another, in whether or not Mr. Albano was
injured?

Absolutely not.

You get paid the same rate whether he's injured or
net injured?

I assume 80, sure.

Doctor, in response to Mr. Kennedy's questioning,
you indicated that sciatlic pain can be caused by a

herniated disk. Are there other possible causes as

ﬁéﬁﬁal stenosis can cause the same kind of pain.
Sure it can.

Do you have an opinion to a reasonable degree of
medical certainty as to whether a herniated disk

made it necessary for Mr. Albano to go to the
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14
15
36
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19
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24
25

urgent care center on Qctober 13th, 19862

Let me -~ I'm going to have to answer your question
obligquely, because after he made that initial
vigit, he had studies which did not show a
herniated disk. He had at least two studies done
within a month or two months after the accident in
gquestion, and ten months later I guess, ten or 11
months later he had another study, the MRI scan,
which did not show any evidence of & hecniated
disk.

80 that certainly within a month after the|
accident, I think he had a CT scan done on the Sth
of November and ancther one done on the 10th of
November, there was no evidence of a herniated
disk.

Then if you're going to ask me well, how
can you exzplain this pain, I can give you my own
reasonable answer: I'm not guite sure how to
explain this pmiﬂ; I don't know.

Do you believe it was due to a herniated disk?

Hot then, no, absolutely I do not believe it was.
Doctor, you indicated that the myelogram which was
done in 1988 showed an abnormality.

o question.

Assume f£or a moment that that abnormality is a
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13

A

herniated disk -~

Sure,

=~= just for the sake of argument., Do vou have an
opinion to a reasonable degree of wmedical certainty

1 cause a

P
fous

that a single epizode of trauma Wi
nerniation Lwo years after the fact?

I would find it difficult to believe that
personaily. I thiank cthere's no guesticon that a
single episode of trauma can cause a herniated

12re’s no guestion of tnat in my mind, but

s

disk, t
£or that event to occur that far aiong in time, I
would find it, in all honesty, a bit unusual in my
pEperience.,
Doctor, in response to Mr. Kennedy's guestioning,
you made the comment that the fact that Dy. Xrahe
Eound positive straight leg raising on both sides
Was danusdal. Can you explain why?
Yelil, you don't ofben see tiis as a4 physical
finding, particularly «n patients with complaints
in one lower extremity. And again, I don't know
what Dr. EKrahe acans by positive stralghit leg
ralsing.

Theve are a number of doctors, in alil
honesty, who will say that if vou raise iLbhe leg up

to 50 degrees, the patient compiains of a backache,




1 that thet's a positive stra.ght leg racsing test.
2 To me 1t isn't.
3 S¢ that, you know, I said this before and
4 I just say it now, you know, you'd have to ask Dr.
5 Rrahe what he means by it. I can't tell you what
6 he means by it. T know what I mean by it, ané
7 that's all.,
8 C Doctor, vou were questioned about the CT scan andgd
o whatit you wiote in your reporit about the C7 scan.
10 You indicated in your repori Lhat there was some
11 gafficusty in dnceuvpretling some of these fiims.
12 You weren‘t aliowed to finish your response. Would
13 you iike at this point --
14 ' A Yeatl.
15 I -- 10 clarify that point?
18 &, It iz not a technically great CT scan. Woudd you
17 ask me if it's adeguate, I suppose it's adeguate;
18 tt's not & good one,. There's noithing that I couid
13 identify ae a herniated disk, and there's nothing
20 that the radiologist couid identify as a herniatead
21 disk. You know, this is true of the scan that was
22 done five days later.
23 o Doctor, is a wmild bulge the same as a herniated
24 disk?

25 A Ho.,
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What is the difference?
The Gifferences arve great differences of degrec.
Buiging is veysy common. JL'3s a very cowmen Lthing

-+

(]

seen in normal people, and there's no character ~-
there may be no symptoms, often there are n¢
symptoms associated with a bulging disk or a miid
protrusion.,

A herniated digk is an entirely different
Lhiing. OF cousse, ONEe can Bee herniated diocks an
patients wno bhave ne symptomg al ail either.
There's noe yreat mystery about that. It just an
event thnei's been observed for years. But il you

disk that hasz escaped the confinesz ofL the

i
3]
e

£

3
disk space, which is a true hewrniated Gloi, in a
paticent thal has appropriate symplons, you say
that's a synptomatic herniated disk, very
characterisiic, totally different from bulging of
protiusions,

You know, these are words that
radiologists use te describe a £inding, and you
really have to ask the radioclogist what he means.
I mean, & littie bulging, but that's all it nmeans.
It doesn't mean anything eise.

You've seen these filmsg yoursell?

Yes.
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1 Q0 In your opiniocn, tov a reasconable degree of medical
2 certainty, could these bulges or procvcusions which
3 were Gemonstrated by the CT scans or the HR!
4 account for Mr. Albano's symptoms?
5 A Personally, ¥ don't think so., Personally, I don’t
6 think so., I think that initially his gymptoms are
7 really very @Gifficult to explain on the basis old
8 the CT scans that he had.
3 Cercvainly when he had the MEI zcan in
Id 1987, that's a pretty impressive study, and to me
il there was a very charecteristic abnormaiity of a
12 very focal abnormallty in the lumbear spine at L4
i3 and L5 that was not dug to a herniated Gigk. Tt
14 wag due Lo jumbar stenosis, whicth i3 & very common
15 propicr that I deal with gsucgically 50 to 75 times
15 a year.
17 O Doctor, lastly, in response to Mr. Kennedy's
i gquestioning, you indicated L{hat sure, a centrally
19 herniated disk could cause pain on either side?
20 A Sure.
21 4] Could it cause pain without impinging on the nerve?
22 A A single nerve, no, I don't think so.
23 MR. CABRAL: Thank you, Doctor.
24
25




1 EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. REA:

3 0 Doctor, did I understand you to say that --

4 MR, KENNEDY: Objectioen.,. I'n going
5 to object to your guestioning at this point in

6 time. I don't think you're entitlied to¢ begin your
7 direct examination after there's been a direct and
8 a Cross.

i HMR. REA: Let the record show
10 your objection. Let's procesd,

13 0 Doctor, do I understand that you've done about 150
12 of these low bachk procedures in this past year or
13 507

14 MR. KEWUHEDY: Objection,
15 & Yes.

16 o And c¢an you tell us, pieasse, over the years, yvour
17 mary yecrs of practice, about how many times have
18 you performed low back surgery of the type that Mr.
19 Albano had in this case?

20 HR. KENWNEDY: Objection, asked and
21 answered.

22 A I wouid guess at least 1500 times.

23 C At least 1500 times?

24 A Yeah.

25 MR. REA: Thank you. I he

‘J
<
©
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1 nothiang further.

2 RECROSS~EX3%IRATIO&

3 BY MR, XEHUEDY:

4 O Doctor, can a bulge or a protrusion cause

5 symptomatoclogy, bulge or‘grotrusxon of the aisk?

6 A Per se, no, I don*t think so. This is a very

7 difficult guestion to answer becauvse, you kinow,

a when you see a patient with certain types of

3 cumplaints of a backache and you do & gcan and have
10 a gcan performed on a patient like that, oftentimes
13 I won't order scans on patients 1ike that, but

1 patients are sont toe me by other doctors gvans in
i3 hand with conmplaints of backaciie, and they have &
14 little bulging of a disk.

13 I don't do anytining very aggressive with
i6 patients i1ike thig, because it's very dGifficult in
17 my owp ming to rejate this X-ray finding oo HMRI

18 scan finding to o specific symptom or complaint

15 because you can see this in normal people who have
20 no complaints,
21 Q Doctor, Mr. Albano immediately following this had
22 symptoms ==

23 A Correct.,

-~ consisitent with 8 herniated &isk?

2
&
vy

25 A Yes, he certaliniy did.




1 Q And when the sympbtomatology occurs, that'o

2 consistent with a perniated digk, occura

3 immediately after an event, doesn'c that ailow you
4 to conciude that the event caused the symptoms and
5 tihe herniated disk?

6 3 There would be no guestion in my mind but that the
7 event caused the symptoms, but there i85 a greac

& deal of guestion in my mind as the fact that he

9 didn't have a herniated disk on the righe side.

140 MR. KEHREDY: I nave nothing

il further.

12 REDIRECT EXANINATION
13 BY MEk. CABRAL:

14 o Very briefliy, Doctor. VYou indicated that the event
15 cauvzed the symproms,

16 A Mo guestion,

17 0 Do you have an opinion as to whether, to a

18 reasonable degree of medical certainty, thio could
19 have represented an aggravation of a pre—existing
20 condition, that being the stenosis?

21 A I think dit's possible, I think it's possible.
22 Q Do you think it's probable?

23 A I'd have to think a lot about that. 1It's a

24 difticult guestion to answer, but I think it's

25 possible.
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1 HR. CABRBAL: Thank you veriy mucCh.
2 RECROES-EXANINATION
3 BY MR, EENNEDY:
4 0 Just finally, Doctor, this issue of sienosis,
5 again, this is something he had prior to this £all?
6 A I think he did.
7 Q AnG we have no evidence and no record that it ever
8 caused this man any pain or any disability oc¢
4 problem; is thait true?
12 ) To the best ol my Knowiedge, that is 50.
13 Q Doctou, in the past, with your own patients, wouid
12 Tobe corvect in sayiag thot when the Rack
i3 symptomatology has occurred clese in time to thae
14 event, Lthe accident or the fali, you have been able
15 Lo conciude with reasonable probability and
1¢ reasonable certainty that the sympltoms and tihen a
17 later diaynosed herniated disk welre cauzed by that
1€ fali or that incident?
19 A Gbviously, if the symptoms began afterwards, one
20 wouid relate the symptoms to the event. When you
21 say later, it's aimost too broad a term. When you
22 say iater, do you mean --
23 Q If the hernlated disk wasn't diagnosed for a year
24 and & helf to two -~
25 A That would be very unusual in my own experience. I
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1 mean, 4£ I had & patient with right s8ciab.e pain
2 and I could pot ldentify & herniated luwmbazr disk, I

3
¥
F

would sort of scratceh my head and wonder why Lhe

f-8

patient had right sciatic pain, to be quite

canGidly honest with you.

(92

& HR. RKEWMEDY: I have nothing.
7 MR, CABRAL: Thank you, Doctor.

g MR. E

4a]

Az Thank you, Doctor.

i HE, CADRRAL: Ak counsel ~- L{igst
10 of all, Doctor, dU¢ you g¢gree Lo waive signature?
i1 ' TaE WITRESE: Oit, indeel, yeou.

12 MR, CABRRL: And would coupseld
1z agree to walve the £iling requirements? Lel Lhe
14 recoid refiect he nodded yes.

15 (Depozition conciuded at 7:15 @.m.)

i€ {Sighature waived)

17 - e e -

1é
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1 State of Ohio, )
) &8¢ CERTIFICATE
2 County of Cuyabhoga, )
3 I, Phyliis L. Engleharit, CH and Notary Public in
4 and for the 8State of Ohio, duly comnmissioned and
5 gqualifiecd, do hereby certify that the within named
& witness, Meivin Shafron, M.D., was by me Liyst duly swoin
7 to testify the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
& the truth in the cause aforesaid; that the testimony taen
G given by him was by me reduced to comnputerized stenolypy
10 1o oche grecence of saxd witneuws, afterward Lransoribed,
11 and that vhe foregoinhg is a true and correct tiranscrapt
iz ¢f the tescimony £0 given by him as aforeua id,
13 I do further certiiy that thic deposition was
4 taken al the Llme anu poace an the foregolihy Capvion
15 specified and compleltad without adjournment.
ie I Go further cercify that I &am noi a reiative,
17 counsel, ov atitorney of either parly, or Ootherwise
15 incevested in tne event of this action.

139 IN WITWESS WEBREOF, I have hereunto set my hand

20 and affixed my seal of office at Cleveiand, Ohio, on

21|  thie ZHA

thl'ig’uq Englehat i, CH and Notary Public
23 in and for the State of Chio.
My commission eéxpires June 23, 1996.




